## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JANIS S. MCLEAN,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents

Case No. S221554

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB - 9 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C074515 Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2012-00119161-CU-OE-GDS Honorable Raymond M. Cadei

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
ALICIA FOWLER
Senior Assistant Attorney General
FIEL D. TIGNO
Supervising Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM T. DARDEN
State Bar No. 155079
Deputy Attorney General

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether, in a putative class action to recover penalties against an "employer" under Section 203 of the Labor Code, a former state employee may sue the "State of California" instead of the specific agency for which the employee previously worked.
- 2. Whether Sections 202 and 203 of the Labor Code, which provide a right of action for employees who "quit" their employment, authorize suit by an employee who retires from her job.

#### INTRODUCTION

Under California Labor Code section 203, "an employer" that willfully fails to pay owed wages promptly after an employee "quits" or is "discharged" can be held liable for penalties of up to thirty days of wages. After Plaintiff Janis McLean, a former Deputy Attorney General, retired from the California Department of Justice and was paid all owed wages, she sued "the State of California" under section 203, claiming that the payments were not timely and that the State therefore owed penalties to her and to a putative class of employees who worked for any department, agency, board, commission, court, or legislative body in the State.

Because section 203 only authorizes suit by former employees against their own individual agency employer, and because it permits suit only by those

All further statutory references are to the Labor Code unless otherwise specified.

who "quit" their jobs, McLean, a retiree, failed to state a claim for penalties against "the State" as a whole. The Court of Appeal's decision reinstating her claim should be reversed.

As to the first issue raised in the petition for review, McLean's suit cannot proceed against "the State of California," as pled, because in the case of a governmental agency, the "employer" under section 203 is the individual entity for which a public employee works and not "the State of California" as a whole. Although neither section 203 nor any other provision of the prompt-payment law defines the term "employer," the text of the statutory scheme suggests that the Legislature intended for individual state agencies—not a unitary entity denominated "the State" and consisting of every employing department, agency, board, commission, court, or legislative body—to be responsible for making prompt payments to their departing employees. Administrative interpretation of the statute also allocates responsibility for paying final wages to the individual department.

The structure of public employment in California confirms that the "employer" under section 203 is the specific agency or department for which the employee worked. Public employment in the State is governed by statute, and within that statutory framework, each state employee is appointed into a specific department, agency, board, commission, or other similar entity (commonly referred to as an "appointing power") and works exclusively for that entity. The appointing power, not "the State," has the

power to hire, supervise, fire, and control the key aspects of that person's employment. And although the Legislature, and in some cases the Governor and certain state departments, may play a role in the overall administration of the state workforce, their oversight role does not make them a civil servant's "employer."

Even were the Court to look beyond the statutory basis for state employment and to other commonly applied definitions of the term "employer," a civil servant's "employer" still should be considered to be the agency for which she works. For example, the primary factor in determining the identity of an "employer" in the common law is the authority to exercise direction and control over the employee's work. In state government, only the appointing power—not a unitary entity denominated "the State"—is able to direct and control an employee's work.

McLean's contrary reading of section 203 would lead to absurd results. In her view, a single agency employee in a section 203 case may initiate litigation against every separate state entity in California without naming them or serving them with process. Permitting such claims would impose onerous discovery obligations on uninvolved agencies and would create unwarranted trial-management problems for parties and the courts. There is no need, moreover, for courts to grapple with these challenging trial-management issues, for aggrieved employees may obtain all the relief to which they may be entitled in an action pleaded against their individual

agency employers, and there is therefore no need to expand section 203's definition of "an employer" beyond the individual's employing agency. Accordingly, the Court should conclude that, in the context of state civil service, the "employer" of any civil service employee, for purposes of a section 203 claim, is that employee's particular appointing power, and not the "State of California" as a whole.

As to the second issue raised in the petition for review, the Court of Appeal extended the reach of section 203, which permits suit for untimely payment by those who "quit," to include those who retire. In the court's view, employees who have come to the orderly end of their careers have "quit," because they "quit to retire." As the trial court recognized, however, under ordinary principles of statutory interpretation, one who "retires" from state service is not a person who has "quit" within the meaning of section 203. The trial court's conclusion is consistent with the statutory and decisional law in California, which recognizes that a "quit" and a retirement are distinct forms of separation. Consistent with this accepted understanding, the Legislature itself used the terms "quit" and "retire" separately in the prompt-payment statutory scheme, and yet applied the penalty obligations only to those who "quit."

Indeed, demonstrating the accepted and previously uncontroversial distinction between these two different forms of separation from service, McLean's own pleading repeatedly admitted the distinction between those

who quit and those who retire for purposes of the statute and repeatedly pled that she retired, not that she quit. Realizing, in response to the demurrer, that this admission was fatal to her claims, McLean sought through her briefing to conflate the concepts she had previously separated, arguing that she had "quit to retire."

Reading the word "quit" to include "retire," as the Court of Appeal did, renders the statutory language surplusage and imposes upon California employers a burdensome penalty obligation not intended by the law. It is also inconsistent with the statute's legislative history and with long-standing principles of statutory interpretation and construction. Blurring the distinction between "retirements" and "quits" also poses a risk of confusion to all California employers that is not presented by continuing to recognize the distinction. The trial court correctly held that section 203 does not apply to retirees.

Because McLean failed to sue the agency for which she worked (the Department of Justice) and because she alleged that she "retired" from state service rather than "quit," she has failed to state a claim under section 203. The judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

#### **BACKGROUND**

I. AFTER RETIRING FROM DOJ, PLAINTIFF FILED SUIT AGAINST THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA SEEKING PENALTIES UNDER LABOR CODE SECTION 203.

Plaintiff McLean worked as a Deputy Attorney General in the California Department of Justice until she "retired from the Attorney General's Office on November 16, 2010, and separated from service on the same date." (AA000003 [First Amended Complaint (FAC) at 3:7-8].)

McLean elected to defer payment of her accrued but unused leave upon her retirement, which she would otherwise have received in a single, taxable, lump sum, and instead requested that those amounts be transferred into her supplemental retirement plans at future dates in 2010 and 2011.

(AA000002 [FAC at 2:1-9]; AA0000003 [FAC at 3:15-19].)

McLean subsequently filed suit against the State, alleging that she was not paid her wages on her last day of employment or within 72 hours thereof as she claimed was required under Labor Code section 202(a). (AA000006.) She also claimed that the postings to her supplemental retirement plans for the 2010 and 2011 tax years occurred beyond the time frame that she claimed was required by Labor Code sections 202(b) and 202(c). (AA000003.)

Based on these asserted violations of section 202, McLean pleaded a single cause of action for penalties under California Labor Code section 203. (AA000006-09.) McLean sought no damages for the alleged

violations because, prior to filing suit, she received all owed wages and leave credits; instead, her FAC sought penalties, costs of suit, and attorneys' fees. (AA000009 [FAC, Prayer for Relief]; AA000109 [demurrer ruling recognizing absence of claim for damages].)

Although McLean admitted in the FAC that she retired as a Deputy Attorney General, a position within the Attorney General's Office in the DOJ, she did not sue DOJ.<sup>2</sup> Instead, McLean sued "the State of California" and the California State Controller's Office (AA000002), alleging that she was "employed by the State of California" (AA000002-03) and that the State Controller was responsible for "timely paying wages" to state employees. (*Ibid.*)

McLean's suit sought to represent a class of "all employees employed by Defendant in the State of California." (AA000004.) The FAC asserted that "Plaintiff and the Class may bring suit against the State, including its department and agencies" for relief under section 203 as a result of alleged violations of section 202. (AA000007-8.) McLean alleged that "defendants" failed to make payments to her and the Plaintiff Class, which the FAC defined as all persons who "resigned or retired from their employment with the Defendant State of California." (AA000001.)

See Gov. Code, § 12510 (Attorney General is head of the California Department of Justice.)

Although the FAC alleged that the Labor Code's prompt-payment obligation applies only "upon discharge or resignation" (AA000007 [FAC at 7:16-18]), McLean did not allege that she was discharged or that she resigned. Instead, the FAC asserted that McLean "retired" (AA000003 [FAC at 3:7]; AA000007 [FAC at 7:3]), and it distinguished between those who "retire" and those who "resign" (i.e. "quit"). (See, e.g., AA00001 [FAC at 1:26-27] (complaint brought on behalf of persons who "resigned or retired from their employment"); AA000002 [FAC 2:2-3] (immediate payment required when employee "resigns or retires").)<sup>3</sup>

# II. THE TRIAL COURT DISMISSED THE COMPLAINT ON THE GROUND THAT SECTION 203 DOES NOT AUTHORIZE PENALTIES FOR THOSE WHO RETIRE.

Defendant State of California, acting by and through the State

Controller, demurred to the FAC on several grounds. (AA000011-66.)

Among other things, the demurrer asserted that section 203, which permits

<sup>(</sup>See also AA000002 [FAC at 2:3-4] (if employee "resigns or retires" and elects to contribute wages to supplemental retirement plan, transfer must be made in 45 days); AA000002 [FAC at 2:6-7] (if employee "resigns or retires" and elects to contribute wages to supplemental retirement plan in next calendar year, transfer must be made by February 1); AA000003 [FAC at 3:11-12](when employee "resigns or retires," a payroll system disburses wages); AA000004 [FAC at 4:11-14](defining proposed putative class as including employees who "resigned or retired" during the class period and who did not receive full and prompt payment of wages); AA000004 [FAC at 4:18-20] (alleging that more than a hundred employees either "resigned or retired" during the class period and did not receive prompt payment of the amount due); AA000005 [FAC at 5:3-4] (alleging predominating classwide question common to the class as to whether prompt payment was made to employees who "resigned or retired").)

penalty wages to be awarded only to an employee who is "discharged" or who "quits," does not apply to the separate category of employees who "retire." (AA000024-26.) The trial court agreed with that analysis, holding that section 203 does not authorize penalties for those who retire.

(AA000109-112.) In light of this ruling, the court did not reach the other arguments made in the demurrer, including that McLean's suit improperly named "the State of California" as a defendant.

The trial court initially sustained the demurrer with leave to amend.

(AA000110.) However, at oral argument, McLean disavowed any intent to amend her complaint and asked for the demurrer to be sustained with prejudice, a request that the trial court granted. (AA000111; 116-117.)

## III. THE COURT OF APPEAL REVERSES, ALTHOUGH AFFIRMING DISMISSAL OF THE CONTROLLER'S OFFICE.

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling in part and affirmed it in part. First, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling that one who "retires" is not included within section 203's grant of a right to sue to those who have "quit" their job. (Opn., at pp. 8-14.)

Although the court's opinion recognized that in the context of state civil service, a "retirement" is understood to be different from a "quit" (*id.*, at p. 12), it nevertheless held that McLean should be considered to be a person who "quit" for purposes of section 203, because she "quit to retire." (*Id.*, at pp. 2, 8-14).

The court also held that McLean properly sued the "State of California" instead of the DOJ. (Opn., at pp. 12-13.) The Court of Appeal reasoned that, since McLean was a state civil service employee and since the prompt-payment statutes use phrases such as "the state employer," McLean's section 203 "employer" was the "State of California." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal also rejected the demurrer's challenge to the FAC's class allegations. The court concluded that McLean, a retiree, could represent a putative class of employees who either quit or retired, because the statutory term "quit" includes those who quit "whether to retire or for other reasons" and that those who quit and those who retire "constitute a single group under the statutory scheme." (Opn., at p. 16.) The court also declined to limit the FAC's putative class to former DOJ employees, concluding that "McLean's employer is the State of California." (*Ibid.*) The court nevertheless declined to "opine on the issue of class certification or reach any other issue regarding McLean's class allegations." (*Ibid.*)

Finally, the court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the State

Controller as a defendant in the suit. (Opn., at p. 15.) The Court of Appeal

did not address the argument that the Controller's Office was not subject to

suit because it was not McLean's "employer," but nevertheless concluded

that the FAC alleged "wrongful conduct" by that office. (*Ibid.*)

Regardless, the court found it unnecessary for McLean to separately name

the Controller because an "action against state agencies in their capacity as

such is, in effect, a suit against the state." (*Ibid.*) Thus, the court reasoned, it was sufficient for McLean's complaint to name "only the state as a party defendant." (*Ibid.*)

This Court granted the State's petition for review.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts review an order sustaining a general demurrer by giving the complaint a reasonable interpretation, but without assuming the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law. (*Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967.) A reviewing court should affirm the judgment if the trial court's decision to sustain the demurrer was correct on any theory. (*Hendy v. Losse* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 723, 742; *Kennedy v. Baxter Healthcare Corp.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 799, 808.)

When a demurrer is sustained with leave to amend but the plaintiff elects not to do so, strict construction of the complaint is required and courts presume that the complaint states as strong a case as the plaintiff can properly plead. (*Reynolds v. Bement* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1075, 1091, abrogated on other grounds by *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35 (*Martinez*).)

A *de novo* standard of review applies to issues of statutory interpretation. (*Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. McLean's Suit Against "The State" Must Be Dismissed Because Claims Under Section 203 Can Only Be Brought Against the Individual Agency for Which the Employee Worked.

McLean's section 203 claim should be dismissed because she did not sue her "employer," the California Department of Justice. Her putative class action against the entire "State of California" on behalf of former employees from every agency, board, commission, court, and legislative entity is improper and should be dismissed.

A. The Phrase "an Employer" in Section 203 Refers to the Specific State Agency for Which a Civil Service Employee Worked.

California's prompt-payment laws, codified at Labor Code sections 201, et seq., require employers to pay final wages promptly to an employee who is "discharged" or who "quits." (§§ 201, 202.) Although the statute's prompt-payment obligations originally applied only to the private sector, the Legislature extended those obligations to state employers in 2000. (See Stats. 2000, ch. 885, § 1 [AB 2410].).

Section 202, subdivision (a) (§ 202(a)) provides that, for an employee who "quits," the employer must pay owed wages within 72 hours of the employee's last day or immediately if the employee gives 72 hours' prior notice of his or her departure. (§ 202(a).) For state civil service employees, the law permits workers to defer payments of wages for certain unused leave and provides that state employers comply with their prompt-payment

obligations by delaying payments as the employee requests. Thus, section 202, subdivision (b) (§ 202(b)) provides that "the state employer shall be deemed to have made an immediate payment of wages" for unused leave time if the employee timely "submits a written election to his or appointing power authorizing the state employer to tender payment" for the leave credits to the employee's supplemental retirement plan. In such cases, the employer must tender the payments to the plan within 45 days of the employee's last day of work. (§ 202(b).)

Under section 202, subdivision (c) (§ 202(c)), an employee who "quits, retires, or disability retires from his or her employment with the state," may defer final payments even longer, into the next tax year, by "submit[ting] a written election to his or her appointing power authorizing the state employer to defer" the payments. (§ 202(c).) For employees who elect this option, the employer has until February 1 in the year following the employee's last day to make the required transfers. (*Ibid.*) <sup>4</sup>

Employers who willfully fail to comply with certain prompt-payment obligations are liable for penalties, often called "waiting time penalties," of up to thirty days in wages. Section 203 provides: "[i]f an employer

The Legislature's decision to "deem" that the statute has been complied with in the event a deferral request has been made by a state employee naturally flows from the fact that the employee has requested that payment be made past the 72-hour period.

willfully fails to pay, without abatement or reduction, in accordance with Sections 201, 201.3, 201.5, 202, and 205.5, any wages of an employee who is discharged or who quits, the wages of the employee shall continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an action therefor is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than 30 days." (§ 203(a).)

In interpreting any statute like section 203, courts look first to "the statute's words, assigning them their usual and ordinary meanings, and construing them in context. If the words themselves are not ambiguous, [the Court will] presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the statute's plain meaning governs." (Martinez, supra, 49 Cal.4th at p. 51.) In this case, the prompt-payment law does not define the term "employer." Although this Court has addressed the question of the definition of an "employer" for purposes of the minimum wage laws as applied to privatesector employers (id. at p. 35), it has not considered the identity of "an employer" for purposes of section 203 penalty claims against state agencies that appoint individuals into the state civil service. The textual indicia in the statute nevertheless supports the conclusion that a civil servant's "employer" is her appointing power—the individual agency for which she works—and not "the State" as a whole.

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