**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

**JANIS S. MCLEAN,**

**Plaintiff and Appellant,**

**v.**

**STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ET AL.,**

**Defendants and Respondents.**

Case No. S221554

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

APR - 3 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C074515  
Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento,  
Case No. 34-2012-00119161-CU-OE-GDS  
Honorable Raymond M. Cadei

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KERSHAW, CUTTER & RATINOFF, LLP  
William A. Kershaw (State Bar No. 057486)  
Lyle W. Cook (State Bar No. 148914)  
Stuart C. Talley (State Bar No. 180374)  
Ian J. Barlow (State Bar No. 262213)

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA IS THE EMPLOYER OF STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### A. The California Constitution Establishes the State as the Employer of State Civil Service Employees.

The State’s employer-employee relationship with state civil service employees is established by the California Constitution. The Constitution unambiguously declares that “[t]he civil service includes every officer and *employee of the state* except as otherwise provided by this Constitution.” (Cal. Const., art. VII, § 1, subd. (a), italics added.)

Under the Constitution, “[i]n the civil service permanent appointment and promotion shall be made *under a general system* based on merit ascertained by competitive examination.” (Cal. Const., art. VII, § 1, subd. (b), italics added.) The Personnel Board is constitutionally required to “enforce the civil service statutes and, by majority vote of all its members, shall prescribe probationary periods and classifications, adopt other rules authorized by statute, and review disciplinary actions.” (*Id.*, art. VII, § 3, subd. (a).) Through its Personnel Board (and other state entities), and as required by civil service statutes, the State acts as the unitary employer on crucial employment matters. The Constitution not only names the State as the employer of state civil service employees, it requires that the State act as their employer under a general system of employment.

**B. Labor Code Section 220, Which Extended Prompt Pay Protection to State Employees, Establishes the State of California as Their Employer.**

When the Legislature extended prompt pay protection to state employees in 2000, it did so by AB 2410, which amended Labor Code section 220. As amended, subdivision (a) of section 220 provides as follows:

(a) Sections 201.3, 201.5, 201.7, 203.1, 203.5, 204, 204a, 204b, 204c, 204.1, 205, and 205.5 do not apply to the payment of wages of employees directly employed by the State of California. Except as provided in subdivision (b), all other employment is subject to these provisions.

The effect of this change in the law was to apply the rules governing payment of wages, unless specifically excluded, to “employees directly employed by the State of California.”<sup>3</sup> Sections 201, 202 and 203 are not among the excluded sections and are, therefore, applicable to “the payment of wages of employees directly employed by the State of California.” By its amendment of section 220 the Legislature has unambiguously declared that the State of California is the employer of state employees for purposes of the prompt pay obligations specifically extended to it. The Legislature is presumed to mean what it says. (*Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35, 51 [109 Cal.Rptr.3d 514, 231 P.3d 259].)

Despite section 220’s precise definition of the public employers to whom prompt pay obligations are extended, the State argues that “neither section 203 nor any other provision of prompt pay law defines the term ‘employer,’” and that “the text of the statutory scheme suggests that the Legislature intended for individual state agencies—not a unitary entity denominated ‘the State’ ... to be responsible for making prompt payments to their departing employees.” (Opening Brief on the Merits, at p. 2.)<sup>4</sup> The State is wrong. Section 220, subdivision (a), provides an unambiguous ostensive definition of the relevant employer when it expressly

---

<sup>3</sup> McLean pled the statute (section 220) declaring that the State of California was her employer for purposes of the alleged violations of sections 202 and 203. (AA000007-08, ¶ 38.)

<sup>4</sup> Citations to the State’s Opening Brief on the Merits filed February 9, 2015 will be short cited as “Br. at p. #.”

denominates the “State of California” as the employer for purposes of payment of wages under the non-excluded Labor Code sections, which include sections 202 and 203.

The State, in the proceedings below, sought to avoid the import of specific references to the State as the employer by urging that they should be understood as “helpful shorthand.” By “helpful shorthand” the State meant that specific references to the “State of California” or “state employer” should be understood as not referring to the State, but to the many agencies where state employees worked. The Court of Appeal correctly reasoned that “[t]o accept this argument is to find the words do not mean what they say, which would undermine the basic rule of statutory construction to give the words of a statute ‘their usual and ordinary meaning.’ (*DaFonte v. Up-Right, Inc.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 593, 601 [7 Cal.Rptr.2d 238, 828 P.2d 140].)”<sup>5</sup> (Opn., at p. 15, fn. 4.)

The State also seeks to avoid the plain meaning of section 220 by supposing that the Legislature’s reference to the “State of California” in section 220 was only meant to refer to the State as the employer for purposes of the Labor Code sections that *do not apply*, rather than the sections that *do apply*. (Br. at p. 17 [“Thus as amended, section 220(a) merely provides an exemption for state employers from certain Labor Code

---

<sup>5</sup> Nor is helpful shorthand in the form of misnomer needed. If the intended employer was *not* the State, then “appointing powers” or some other identifier could have been used to capture the intended meaning.

requirements”].) The State is incorrect. Section 220 was amended for the purpose of extending the protection of certain Labor Code sections to state employees, including sections 201, 202, and 203. The State of California is just as much the employer of state employees for purposes of the Labor Code sections that do apply as it is for those that do not apply.

The legislative history accords with the plain meaning of section 220. When section 220 was amended by AB 2410, the stated purpose was to “delete specified exemptions for the *state as an employer*” from provisions of the California Labor Code. (AA000092, italics added.)

Thereafter, when the Legislature addressed “an unintended result that occurred with the enactment of AB 2410,” the enrolled bill report for Assembly Bill No. 1684 (Reg. Sess. 2001-2002) (amending sections 201 and 202) explicitly stated that “AB 2410 amended section 220 of the Labor Code thereby making sections 201, 202, and 206.5 applicable to the *State as an employer*.” (AA000059, italics added.) The enrolled bill report recognized that “[a]s a result, the *State employer* is now required to tender the ‘prompt payment of wages’ due and owing to an employee upon separation from *State employment*.” (*Ibid.*, italics added.) “[T]hese shortened time frames place *the State at risk to be assessed penalties* in the event the lump sum contribution cannot be tendered to the employee’s supplemental retirement plan (plan administrator or record keeper) within

the time frame specified for payment under the Labor Code.” (*Ibid.*, italics added.)

The exposure *of the State* to waiting time penalties when making certain types of wage payments (that could not be made immediately or within 72 hours) was the reason for amending sections 201 and 202. The subdivision (b) amendments to these sections relieved the State from the immediate or 72-hour obligation with respect to “accrued leave” that the state employee elected to contribute to the “employer sponsored 401(k), 403b and/or 457 Plan . . . .” (AA000059.) Instead, under the subdivision (b) amendments in both sections 201 and 202, the State is obligated to make the specified payments “no later than 45 days after the employee’s last day of employment.” (Lab. Code, §§ 201, subd. (b), 202, subd. (b).) The subdivision (c) amendments relieved the State from the immediate or 72-hour prompt pay obligation when the state employee elected to defer leave payments into the next year and replaced it with the obligation to make payment “no later than February 1 in the year following the employee’s last day of employment.” (*Id.*, §§ 201, subd. (c), 202, subd. (c).) Both of the amended prompt pay time frames used the term “shall,” which under the Labor Code means “mandatory.” (*Id.*, § 15.)

In sum, the Legislature first specifically made the “State of California” subject to section 203 waiting time penalties for section 202 and other prompt pay violations. (Lab. Code, § 220, subd. (a).) The

Legislature then recognized the existing time frames were too short for certain categories of wage payments that the State wished to continue paying and state employees wished to continue receiving. (AA000059.) New, but still mandatory, time frames were then established to govern the prompt payment of specified wages. (Lab. Code, §§ 201, 202, subds. (b), (c).) Under these circumstances, there is no uncertainty as to who the employer is or what the law requires. The State of California is the employer of state employees for purposes of prompt pay law.

**C. In *Colombo v. State of California* the State Urged That It Was the Employer of State Employees and the Court of Appeal Agreed with the State and Correctly Decided the Issue on Grounds That Are Not Distinguishable.**

In *Colombo*, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's judgment granting the defendants' demurrer because, as a matter of law, the State and not its departments was the employer. (*Colombo, supra*, 3 Cal.App.4th at pp. 596, 598-599.) The crucial finding was that the State of California was the employer of state civil service employees. The court held:

Colombo is a civil service employee of the State of California, paid by the state, not the CHP. [Citations.] . . . Likewise, DOT employees are civil service employees of the state. The fact that the departments perform different functions for the State of California does not mean they are akin to separate business entities within a multiunit corporate enterprise . . . both departments and their employees are agents of the state. [Citation.] Hence, lawsuits against state agencies are in effect suits against the state. [Citations.] *As a matter of law, it is the State of California which is the employer with the right of control over employees of both the CHP and DOT.* [Citation.] [¶] . . . [¶] *Colombo was an*

*employee of the State of California, as were the DOT employees . . . .*

(*Id.* at pp. 598-599, italics added, fns. omitted.)

In *Colombo* the State represented—in a successful defense to a lawsuit—that the State, not its individual agencies or departments, was the employer. Now the State, in a complete reversal of its previous position, contends that it is only the individual place of work agencies, rather than the State, that employs state civil service employees.

The State seeks to distinguish *Colombo* by arguing that “the *Colombo* holding is properly based on the principles of workers’ compensation exclusivity and the rule in tort cases that a discrete injury gives rise to one claim for relief.” (Br. at p. 26, citing *Colombo, supra*, 3 Cal.App.4th at p. 599.) This is a misreading of the case. In *Colombo*, no party to the litigation disputed workers’ compensation exclusivity and no party disputed the well-established principle that “the workers’ compensation claim does not affect the employee’s right to bring an action against any person *other than the employer* and certain coemployees for damages proximately resulting from the injury. [Citations.]” (*Colombo, supra*, 3 Cal.App.4th at pp. 596-597, original italics.) Instead, the outcome in *Colombo* turned entirely on whether the individual department where plaintiff worked, rather than the State, was his employer.



Although workers' compensation exclusivity may have served as an outcome-driven motivation for the state defendants' assertion that the State was the employer in *Colombo*, the question presented and decided was whether the State was the employer, not whether the State is the employer only when that result allows it to prevail in a lawsuit. None of the analysis in the *Colombo* decision, agreeing with the State that it employed state civil service employees, had the "heads I win tails you lose" character now asserted by the State to defend this lawsuit. In short, there is no principled distinction between the State is the employer holding in *Colombo* and the State is the employer holding by the Court of Appeal in this case. This Court should preserve the decades-old and on-point precedent in *Colombo* (and other cases) by affirming the Court of Appeal's decision in this case.

**D. An Unbroken Line of Cases Establishes That the State of California Is the Employer of State Employees.**

The State has not cited to a single California case that calls into question the holding in *Colombo* or that reaches a different result. The cases are all to the contrary.

In a case involving the alleged overtime wages of a state employee assigned to work within the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, the Court of Appeal found that "Defendant/respondent State of California (State) is the employer." (*Cal. Correctional Peace Officers Assn. v. State*

of California, *supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 853.)<sup>6</sup> In *Valenzuela v. State of California* (1987) 194 Cal.App.3d 916 [240 Cal.Rptr. 45] the court reached the same result when it found that Plaintiff was “a traffic officer employed with the California Highway Patrol” but “sued *his employer* the State of California (State) . . . .” (*Id.* at p. 918, italics added.)

In a case decided this year, “[t]he State filed a reply, asserting that it was ‘undisputed that (1) Officer Wright was an employee of the State of California at San Quentin State Prison.’” (*Wright v. State of California, supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th 1218, 1225.) This assertion by the State, as to a state civil service employee, is in direct conflict with the State’s assertion in this case. At the same time the State asserts an employer/employee relationship between the State of California and a state civil service employee in *Wright*, it disclaims that relationship here. The State’s assertions in *Colombo* and in *Wright* were and are correct.

Case after case has recognized that the State of California is the employer of state employees. In *Vaught v. State of California* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 1538, 1542 [69 Cal.Rptr.3d 605], the State and the Court of Appeal recognized that plaintiff worked “for the State” through the Department of Parks and Recreation. The appellate court also recognized

---

<sup>6</sup> The State’s resort to a workers’ compensation exclusivity distinction to avoid the holding in *Colombo, supra*, 3 Cal.App.4th 594 (see previous section) also fails in light of other precedent, like *California Correctional Peace Officers Association v. State of California, supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th 849, which reaches the same result when workers’ compensation exclusivity is not an issue in the case.

that when there was a change in position, plaintiff “was not a new employee with the State, but rather was merely changing positions in that employment.” (*Id.* at p. 1546.) In *Fields v. State of California*, the appellate court recognized that “the State of California (State)” was the employer of a state employee involved in an accident. (*Fields v. State of California* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 1390, 1393 [148 Cal.Rptr.3d 15].)

The State of California has been sued as the defendant employer in many other cases where no question has been raised as to the propriety of naming the State of California. (See, e.g., *Sacramento Typographical Union No. 46 v. State of California* (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 634 [96 Cal.Rptr. 194] [class action against the State by its state employees for failure to provide required paid holidays].) Even the cases the State has cited for other purposes here and below reveal that the State can be sued as the employer of state civil service employees. (See, e.g., *Lucas v. State of California* (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 744 [68 Cal.Rptr.2d 253].)

#### **E. The State’s Theory Proves Too Much.**

The State reasons that it should not be a defendant in this case because “a unitary entity denominated ‘the State’” does not act directly in employment matters. (Br. at p. 2, see also pp. 19, 21.) This proves too much. If a lack of direct action was enough to eliminate the State as a defendant, then the State of California could not be sued in any case because it always acts through branches, offices, agencies, institutions or

other instrumentalities.

The many cases properly brought against the State reveal that the State cannot escape suit simply because it is a “unitary entity” one step removed from its many state agencies. To the contrary, the State has long been recognized as a proper party defendant and, even when agencies are sued in its stead, this Court has held that the actions are in effect actions against the State. (*Bacich v. Bd. of Control* (1943) 23 Cal.2d 343, 346 [144 P.2d 818].)

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